NPM and Beyond – Leadership, Culture, and Demography

TOM CHRISTENSEN

Per Lægreid

STEIN ROKKAN CENTRE FOR SOCIAL STUDIES UNIFOB AS JUNE 2007

Working Paper 3 - 2007

Contents

PREFACE	}
Abstract	ł
SAMMENDRAG	;)
INTRODUCTION	,
VARIETY AND DEVELOPMENT FEATURES)
A TRANSFORMATIVE APPROACH	0
DATA SOURCES	3
Cultural features: Role consideration and identification	4
NPM AND POST-NPM REFORM TOOLS IN THE CIVIL SERVICE	9
Reform elements during the last decade1	9
Families of reform	2
Variation in reform measures	
Bivariate analyses	6
Multivariate analysis	8
CONCLUSION	
References	32

Preface

This paper is part of the research project «Norwegian central government in a 30 years perspective» funded by the Meltzer foundation. It was presented at the conference «Leading the Future of the Public Sector: The Third Transatlantic Dialogue, Workshop 5 Leadership and New Public Management», University of Delaware, Newark, Delaware, USA, May 31–June 2, 2007.

Abstract

In this paper we ask what happens to NPM and post-NPM reform elements when they encounter the realities of the Norwegian civil service. The empirical data used in the analysis are taken mainly from surveys of civil servants in the Norwegian ministries conducted in 1996 and 2006. Main research questions are if the administrative culture has changed over the past decade towards a greater NPM emphasis; to what degree NPM-related reforms have been put into practice; what have been the most significant reform elements; and how to explain the variation in the use of different administrative reform tools? How important is leadership relative to other structural factors and to demographic and cultural features? A general finding is that cultural features make a significant difference, but having a leadership position and task structure also have explanatory power. Generally we face a combination of robustness and amenability to administrative policy reforms.

Sammendrag

I dette notatet spør vi hva som skjer med NPM reformer og reformer i kjølvannet av NPM når de møter realitetene i norsk sentraladministrasjon. De empiriske dataene som benyttes i analysen er hovedsakelig tatt fra spørreundersøkelser til ansatte i departementene i 1996 og 2006. De sentrale spørsmålene som behandles er a) om forvaltningskulturen har endret seg i løpet av det siste 10-året mot større vektlegging av NPMverdier; b) i hvilken grad har ulike NPM reformer blitt gjennomført i praksis; c) hva er de viktigste reformelementene og d) hva kan forklare variasjoner i bruk av ulike reformelementer? Et hovedfunn er at vi står overfor en kombinasjon av robusthet og fleksibilitet når det gjelder tilpasning til administrative reformer i norske departementer. Forvaltingskulturen er preget av stabilitet og robusthet samtidig som en rekke nye reformelementer har fått innpass. Variasjonen i bruk av ulike reformtiltak kan først og fremst føres tilbake til kulturelle forhold, men også stillingsnivå og hvilke hovedoppgaver de ansatte har spiller inn.

Introduction

The reform wave known as New Public Management seems to have peaked in several of the trail-blazing countries. This applies not only to the main administrative policy pursued by governments but also to the recommendations of international organizations like the OECD, the IMF, the World Bank, and the EU (Christensen and Lægreid 2007). It illustrates how as contexts, constraints, and conditions change, and especially when the effects of a recent reform wave become evident, ideas about reforms are also amended.

A reform wave does not normally completely replace an established administrative policy or traditional features of the political-administrative system. Thus, the main features of «the old public administration» were preserved even after NPM began in some Anglo-American countries in the early 1980s. By the same token, post-NPM reforms – which partly revived some neo-Weberian features – have been blended with some NPM features. This means that analyzing reforms entails examining an increasingly complex «archeology» of reforms, where the balance between reform elements from different generations of reforms and the main structural and cultural features changes gradually from one period to another (Light 1998, Pierson 2004, Streeck and Thelen 2005). The reason for this is that basic path dependencies and historical traditions do not change overnight but are adapted gradually to new situations (see Krasner 1988).

The NPM reforms started earliest in Australia and New Zealand, but the USA, the UK, and Canada also began implementing similar reforms relatively early on, from the mid 1980s (Boston et al. 1996, Campbell and Halligan 1992). What characterized the reforms in these countries, compared to many other Western and non-Western countries, was not only the differences in sequence, but also that reform was profound and comprehensive – i.e. they were seen by some as radical (Wright 1994). Comparative studies of reforms in different countries reveal that divergences in the sequence and depth of reforms are a product of a combination of environmental features, cultural factors, and instrumental–structural factors (Christensen and Lægreid 2001a, Pollitt and Bouckaert 2004). The front-runners in the NPM movement seem to have experienced greater environmental pressure for reform and to have had a more accommodating culture and more leeway for instrumental reform action on the part of political and administrative leaders. Nevertheless, by the late 1990s NPM was already beginning to stall or be modified in some of these countries (Christensen, Lie and Lægreid 2007).

In this paper we will focus on the Norwegian case. Norway can be classed as a reluctant reformer, mainly because of a lack of environmental pressure for reform (including a sound economic situation), a non-compatible cultural tradition, and political turbulence caused by a series of minority governments, which has made it difficult to implement NPM reforms (Christensen and Lægreid 2001b, Olsen and Peters 1996). The reform path pursued was as follows: the first reform programs began in the late 1980s and were characterized by a cautious adoption of certain NPM features, but they consisted more of NPM rhetoric than action. From the mid-1990s the reform strategy changed from talk to action, and Norway embarked on a gradual reform path involving some structural devolution of state-owned companies and agencies and the

implementation of a version of a performance-management system called Management by Objectives and Rules (MBOR). At the same time it stayed away from much of the privatization and market measures that had characterized reform elsewhere and adopted competitive tendering only to a limited extent. In other words, Norway has taken NPM on board in a modified and reluctant way (Christensen and Lægreid 1998b, 2002). The management tools of the NPM movement have been adapted to a greater extent than the market tools, and privatization has not been a main strategy. This is also the case with some of the biggest later reforms such as the quality reform of universities and the hospital reform. The period 2001-2005 brought a minority Centre-Conservative government to power that was keener on NPM reforms than previous administrations (Christensen and Lægreid 2006b). In 2005, however, a Red-Green government took over, which tried to modify some of the reform measures of the former cabinet. In particular it showed less enthusiasm for market-oriented reforms and increased structural devolution. The biggest ongoing reform efforts include some post-NPM measures like merging sectors and institutions in the work and welfare administrations (Christensen, Fimreite and Lægreid 2006).

This sequence of initial reluctance to reform, followed by a period of radical NPM measures in the period 2001–2005 and more recently some modifying post-NPM measures forms the background to this paper. As a late-comer to radical reforms Norway could potentially have pursued two different development paths during the last decade: either retaining some NPM features longer than the reform pioneers, who, having embarked on NPM earlier, are now engaged in modifying and re-balancing NPM; or using its position as a late and moderate reformer to adopt post-NPM measures more easily without going further down the NPM path. If NPM reforms are less entrenched it may be easier to try out post-NPM reforms, particular those elements that are similar to some basic features of the «old public administration.»

Based on a transformative theoretical approach our main research questions are the following:

- a) Has the administrative culture changed over the past decade towards a greater emphasis on efficiency, business management identification, and less rule-orientation, in line with the NPM movement, or are these features losing their appeal, indicating a trend in the direction of post-NPM reforms?
- b) Are NPM-related reforms being put into practice more, in such a way that they are regarded by civil servants as relevant or important?
- c) What have been the most significant reform elements and families of reform and which the less important ones, and what changes have we seen over the past ten years when it comes to reform components in the central civil service?
- d) How can we explain the variation in the use of different administrative reform tools? How important is leadership relative to other structural factors and to demographic and cultural features?

We ask what happens to NPM and post-NPM reform elements when they encounter the realities of the Norwegian civil service and its political-administrative culture and traditions. The empirical data used in the analysis are taken mainly from two surveys of civil servants in the Norwegian ministries conducted in 1996 and 2006 and also partly from similar surveys done in 1976 and 1986.

We will first describe the variety of administrative reforms in different countries and some trends. Second, we will outline a transformative theoretical approach and apply it to the reforms in general and the survey data in particular. Then we will turn to the Norwegian data base and look at stability and change in administrative culture and in administrative reforms. Finally we will analyse the variation in reform tools based on variables derived from the transformative approach. We will sum up the paper by drawing some general conclusions.

Variety and development features

The larger picture of variety and divergence in administrative reforms shows that countries that adopted NPM early had more accommodating cultures. A good example is the USA, where values like individualism, inequality, rationality, market orientation, and efficiency were highly compatible with the main ideas behind NPM (Christensen and Peters 1999, Hood 1996). The opposite has been the case in the countries characterized as «reluctant reformers», like the Scandinavian countries and some Continental European countries like Germany and France, where, for example, *Rechsstaat* values are important and attention to efficiency less pronounced (Pollitt and Bouckaert 2004, Pollitt, van Thiel and Homburg 2007).

There were a number of major factors primarily responsible for the emergence of post-NPM reforms in the trail-blazing NPM countries like Australia, Canada, New Zealand and UK in the late 1990s (Gregory 2006, Halligan 2007). First, political executives over the whole political spectrum were reluctant to accept the undermining of their own political control and capacity that NPM had brought about. Structural devolution meant that state-owned companies and agencies had, as a result of changes in the law and in structural arrangements, received more autonomy, thus undermining the instrumental levers of control and depriving political leaders of information and influence while still often assigning them the political blame (Christensen and Lægreid 2001b). At the same time, the principle of «single-purpose organizations» had brought about increased differentiation of units, roles, and tasks, leading to fragmentation and increased pressure on coordination capacity at the top.

Another factor was related to the question of efficiency. Overall, the NPM pioneers do not seem to have done better economically than the more reluctant countries. In addition to these macro-economic features, there has been a discussion among scholars about the alleged increase in efficiency of service delivery. Many studies done by economists conclude that there is potential increase in efficiency of 15–20% when public service delivery is subjected to NPM reforms like contracts, competitive tendering, and privatization (Domberger and Jensen 1997, Domberger and Rimmer 1994, Hodge 1999). Some political scientists, on the other hand, think the results are more mixed concerning efficiency effects (Boyne et al. 2003). Of importance for some of the studies done are variations between tasks and policy areas and also the kind of costs involved in the equation. There is a tendency in some of the studies to use a «lean»

definition of services – i.e. to «forget» costs that are now seen as non-commercial and that have to be covered in other ways. These could be regional policy considerations in the postal service (serving the periphery, which is less profitable), costs related to students with special needs in schools (their rights as stated in law), and costs related to emergency functions, long-term chronic diseases or health education in hospitals.

The cost question has also been related to different kinds of side-effects of NPM. These could, for example, be increased pension costs as a result of sacking public employees to make services more efficient, as happened in the communications sectors in many countries. There have also been concerns about increased social inequality as a result of NPM, as seen in New Zealand (Stephens 1996). Out-sourcing is, for example, a double-edged sword. Making savings often means depressing wages and creating less favorable working conditions (United Nations 2005).

The third obvious reason for the post-NPM reforms is the question of increased insecurity. Since 9/11 in the USA, fear of terrorism has been a driving force for increased control and coordination in many countries. This began with the Bush administration resuming control of airport security control, followed by a major reorganization of homeland security, both military and civilian (Hammond 2004, Kettl 2004). Similar measures have been adopted in Australia and the UK. Added to this are the centralizing and coordinative efforts made internationally and nationally as a result of the threats posed by tsunamis and pandemics like SARS and bird flu (Christensen and Painter 2004). The emerging post-NPM reforms, such as «whole-of-government» in Australia and «joined-up government» in the UK, are concerned with increasing central control and capacity and have introduced a number of measures designed to enhance coordination between levels, sectors, and institutions (Christensen and Lægreid 2006a, Halligan 2007, Richards and Smith 2006).

Comparative reform studies show that leadership and management is crucial in a number of ways (Ingraham, Joyce and Donahue 2003). Pushing through reform measures is an important job for political and administrative leaders, a task that demands attention and resources. And modern reforms like NPM often affect top leaders in substantial ways, leading to new actions. But reforms are not only about hierarchical structural leadership. They are also related to how the cultural part of leadership works. What kind of cultural norms and values do they further, and what effects do they have on the norms and values of civil servants? Cultural leadership is also about being culturally sensitive towards reforms.

A transformative approach

According to a transformative approach, reform efforts – reform processes and reform effects – can be understood in terms of a combination of environmental factors, structural–instrumental factors, and cultural traditions and features (Christensen and Lægreid 2001a). First, *environmental pressure* on a country, a political–administrative system or single public institutions can be of two types: either *technical* or *institutional* (Meyer and Rowan 1977). The technical environment consists of actors and organizations that the reformer is relatively dependent on for resources and legitimacy, and reforms may have

coercive elements, such as when EU directives mandate reforms in the communications sectors of individual states, a government decides to implement mandatory reforms in the ministries or subordinate agencies, or a ministry of research and education urges reform in universities. The institutional environment has more to do with taken-forgrantedness and ideological and normative pressure. In some periods periods certain reforms or reform elements are seen as particular appropriate, and they spread and are imitated rather quickly from international organizations to countries, among countries, or between different types of public organizations, producing similar structures, planning systems, procedures, service systems, etc (Czarniawska and Sevon 1996, Sahlin-Anderson 2001). According to the theory, these similarities in reform elements, labeled *isomorphy*, can be seen as a spreading of myths, symbols, fads or fashions to help secure legitimacy, and these myths will primarily work as «window-dressing» and not have instrumental effects.

This environmental perspective can be used to explain some of the variety in NPMstyle reforms. Australia, and in particular New Zealand, had economic problems in the late 1970s and early 1980s related to international trade, and NPM was seen as an adequate answer to some of these problems. Deterministic pressure of this kind was also related to the role of international organizations, such as the OECD, in which some of the main Anglo-American countries play a central role and are thus able to exert «ideological» pressure on various member countries for reform (Self 2000). It was taken for granted that some NPM features, like devolution, less ambiguous roles, market principles, contracting, privatization, consumer orientation, etc., would increase government efficiency, particularly in service provision.

Another main explanation for why NPM reforms have been adopted and implemented in a variety of ways is a *structural-instrumental* one (Egeberg 2003, Hood 1996, Olsen 1992). Some Continental European countries have strong constitutional constraints that impede reforms, while this is much less the case in, for example, Anglo-Saxon countries. The latter countries also have «elective dictatorship», meaning that their party and parliamentary systems tend to yield strong, one-party governments, which makes it much easier to implement reforms, often of an entrepreneurial type, than in the Scandinavian and many Continental European countries, where there are longer traditions of coalition governments, often in minority positions (Gregory 2001).

A third group of explanations focuses on *cultural factors*. Cultural traditions and pathdependency are often important for filtering reform efforts (Krasner 1988, Selznick 1957). Different countries and different political–administrative institutions within them have developed along different paths determined by the context in which they were established and their historical roots. This has led them to evolve a distinct culture through a gradual adaptation to external and internal pressure. When reforms come along, the question of compatibility between a country's cultural traditions and the content of a given set of reforms will be crucial. Reforms that are culturally deviant will easily be bounced back or changed, while culturally compatible reforms will quickly be implemented.

The transformative approach offers several ways of explaining the post-NPM measures taken (Christensen and Lægreid 2006a). The increasing environmental threat, whether international or national, is driving efforts to restructure central political-

administrative apparatuses in the direction of more centralization and control of stateowned companies and agencies and to bring about more cross-sectoral coordination. Myths in the environment connected to these threats also contribute to modifying or undermining NPM features. Cultural factors are also more evident in post-NPM reforms. These include efforts to create a more «holistic» culture, where the development of a common culture and collaborative cultures is being emphasized as a counterweight to NPM-inspired fragmentation and «egoistic» and narrow-minded administrative units. This can be seen in Australia, for example, where efforts are being made to further what is labeled «value-based management» (Shergold 2004).

Taking a transformative approach as a point of departure, we will in the empirical analyses of the Norwegian case apply three sets of organizational or institutional features to analyze the variation in the importance of different administrative reform tools. We start by discussing the importance of *structural features*, such as position and tasks. Our general assumption is that civil servants in leadership positions will generally see administrative reform tools as more important in their own field of work than people without leadership responsibilities. Reform efforts are primarily attended to by people in leadership positions. Leaders are primarily meant to attend to or to be responsible for handling reform efforts. Added to this we would expect people with staff functions as their main task to generally see administrative reform tools as more important than people with other main tasks. Their job is very much a «meta-job», attending to the organization and development of the institution. Conversely, we would expect civil servants working on more operational issues, such as single cases and preparing laws and regulations, to have a more remote relationship to various administrative reform tools, because they see reforms as less relevant to their daily work.

Second, we would expect *administrative culture* and context to make a difference. Administrative reform tools have to pass a compatibility test to be adopted by ministries (Brunsson and Olsen 1993). People working in an administrative culture more in line with the content of the reform tools will be more supportive of and positively disposed to the reforms than those with a more traditional culture. A main feature of modern administrative reforms is their primary focus on efficiency and their tendency to draw inspiration from private-sector management. Our general expectation, then, is that civil servants with a strong identification with renewal values in general and efficiency values in particular will be more accepting of modern reform initiatives than those who are more skeptical or indifferent to renewal and to efficiency. Added to this we would also expect civil servants who identify with the role of business manager to be more exposed to the new administrative reforms than employees without such identification. It is also interesting to see the relative importance of cultural norms and values compared to formal structural position, because one may expect some interaction effects here.

Third, we need to be sensitive to the variety of *demographic variables*. We treat them as a separate category because they can be seen as having both structural, cultural and environmental features (Christensen and Lægreid 1998a). Leaders can, for example, decide to recruit and/or sack people on the basis of their educational background, and as such demography may be structurally related. But demography may also be seen as a cultural feature. In that respect demographic traits may be seen as external features that employees bring with them into the ministries. These can be early socialization represented by gender and age, later socialization determined by education and profession, and late socialization related to work experience, career plans and professional development (Lægreid and Olsen 1978). Our general expectation is that modern administrative reform tools will be more important for civil servants whose demographic profile is different to the dominant one in the bureaucracy in which they work. Since many of the reform tools are imported from the private sector we would also expect people with work experience in the private sector to attach more significance to the new reforms. Thus we would expect women, young civil servants, people trained in social science, and people with a short tenure whose career has been in the private sector to have been more exposed to modern administrative reforms than older men trained in law, with a long tenure and a career within the public sector.

Data sources

Our method of studying reforms is based on three main elements (Christensen and Lægreid 1999). First, we focus on the response of individual civil servants. Reforms are more than what leaders say and more than formal decisions. Reforms are a long and often winding road that ultimately depends on how individual executives at the local level think and respond to them (Brower and Abolafia 1997).

Second, we choose an extensive method to cover a lot of ground. We constructed a large survey for all civil servants from executive officers to top civil servants in Norwegian ministries conducted in 2006 (1848 respondents). In addition to this survey, we also use data from a similar survey of the ministries containing some of the same questions conducted in 1996 (1425 respondents).¹ The response rate in 2006 was 67 percent compared to 72 percent in 1996. This longitudinal approach makes it possible for us to examine developments over the past 10 years.

Third, we take a broad empirical approach to the NPM reforms and possible post-NPM reforms, starting with the reaction to different reform elements and measurements. We then look at how they are clustered and focus on the variety in the use of different families of reform. We asked the executives the following question: «In connection with the governmental modernization and renewal program a number of new reforms and measures have been launched. How much significance do the following reforms/measures/tools have in your own field of work?» We then listed 26 different reform elements that had been introduced in the civil service since the modernization and renewal programs began in 1987. For each of these reform measures, we asked the civil servants to state whether it was relevant and to rank its significance from 1 (*very high significance*) to 5 (*very low significance*).

In addition we also used questions to trace the profile and changes in administrative culture. First, we asked civil servants how much significance they attached to different matters when executing their daily tasks. In 2006 we listed ten different considerations (renewal, efficiency, professional values, political loyalty, loyalty to superior manager, transparency, signals for users and clients, signals from civil service unions, and

¹ For some of the cultural features we have data from similar surveys done in 1986 and 1976.

Rechtstaat values) and asked them to rank each of them on a scale from 1 (*very important*) to 5 (*not important at all*). Second, we asked if there were clear rules or a well established practice for executing their own work tasks and to rank these on a scale from 1 (*very clear rules*) to 5 (*a very large amount of discretion*). Third, we listed some occupational roles (such as judge, negotiator, business manager, and researcher) and asked in each case whether they had something in common with the civil servant's current position and role.

We will now first describe the profile and changes in administrative culture; second, present the administrative reform tools as perceived by the civil servants in 2006 and show how they have changed over the past decade; and third, analyze how we might explain the variation in the repertoire of tools, according to structural, demographic, and cultural features.

Cultural features: Role consideration and identification

One way to examine the dynamics between NPM and post-NPM reform elements is to look at the role considerations and identification of civil servants. We will first describe some of these as cultural variables and look at how they have developed, and then use the data from the 2006 survey as independent variables to compare their explanatory power relative to structural and demographic variables. The NPM movement has a strong focus on efficiency values, identification with business managers, and moving away from a rule-oriented culture. In line with the time-frame in which the NPM movement emerged, reached its peak, and then began to give way to post-NPM trends we would thus expect adherence to these values to have increased from the 1970s and the 1980s to the mid-1990s and to have decreased again by 2006. By the same token we would expect the administrative culture in Norway, which showed a reluctance to reform and was able to resist the new reform trends, to exhibit a considerable degree of stability and robustness with respect to these values, with more traditional cultural role elements dominating.

Our data make it possible to examine the administrative culture in three different ways by focusing on how the roles of civil servants have changed relative to reform trends. First, we look at how much weight they attach to various considerations in their daily work; second, how they identify with different occupational roles; and third, how much their daily work is constrained by rules and regulations.

Role orientation. First, we describe the relative importance of various considerations for civil servants in their daily work – i.e. we examine how different elements and decision premises are balanced in their role enactment. Table 1 shows that importance is attached primarily to three types of classical bureaucratic elements: political loyalty, expressed through political signals; administrative hierarchical concerns, shown through loyalty towards the nearest superior leader; and also knowledge-based and professional considerations, and considerations connected to *Rechtstaat* values. The relative importance of these main considerations has remained high and stable over the last decade, and the same situation was observable 20 years ago for those considerations we have data for. This might suggest, as Olsen (2006) argues, that it is time to rediscover

bureaucracy in a era dominated by NPM reform rhetoric. Such role orientation is considerably more important than concerns connected to NPM, like cost-efficiency/productivity and renewal/reform. An interesting observation is that signals from user groups, clients and particular affected parties, transparency, information to the public, and attending to public opinion increased in importance from 1996 to 2006, indicating neo-Weberian elements of citizen participation, legitimization, and transparency of the Nordic reform trajectory (Pollitt 2007).

Dala considerations	100/	100/	2007	Channe	
in Norwegian ministries. 1986, 1996 and 2006. Percent					
Table 1. Strong or very strong importance attributed to differ	rent role co	nsideration.	s among cii	vil servants	

Role considerations	1986	1996	2006	Change 1996–2006
Knowledge-based and professional considerations 8		91	95	+ 4
Appropriate case-work and rule of law	-	90	88	-2
Signals from political leadership	88	89	89	0
Loyalty towards nearest superior leader	-	84	89	+5
Cost-efficiency, productivity	-	59	62	+3
Renewal and reform orientation -		59	60	+1
Signals from user groups, clients, particularly affected parties	65	58	67	+9
Information to the public, transparency	-	51	64	+13
Attending to public opinion	-	30	42	+12
Signals from public employees' unions	29	17	23	+6
Considerations to independent control- and scrutiny bodies, ombudsmen	-	-		-
			52	
Considerations to societal consequences, results and effects	-	-	81	-

There are different ways to interpret the results in Table 1. In an analysis of the considerations in 1996, including the agencies, we distinguished between loyalist, modernist, and professionalist orientations (Christensen and Lægreid 1998a: 62–64). The loyalist profile consists of signals from the political leadership, attending to information and transparency, and attending to public opinion. In 2006, this profile seemed to be the one that had been strengthened the most, particularly concerning the last two elements. The modernist profile consisted of measures such as cost-efficiency/productivity, renewal and reform, and attending to clients/users/affected parties. This profile also seems to have become stronger in 2006, partly because of the

service element, but not as much as the loyalist one. As in 1996 and 1986, the professionalism profile had the highest score in 2006.

Another way to look at the main results is to say that even though the traditional judicial, political, and hierarchical considerations are still the most important in the roles of civil servants, the relative importance of societal groups, representativeness, and transparency was stronger in 2006 than 1996. So, as seen from these comparative data, the traditional considerations of a Weberian type have remained most important through the period of NPM reforms. The «softer» NPM features seem to have increased in importance, but not the «harder» ones. The main picture is one of robustness. Efficiency has not overtaken or replaced the other traditional public administration values. And while efficiency is important. Furthermore, the strength of the efficiency value has not decreased over the past 10 years, indicating that there is no strong post-NPM trend reducing the importance of the efficiency value.²

In 2006 we added two questions to the survey to reflect new developments. The first of these was related to deregulation and re-regulation and was intended to reflect the fact that structural devolution is inevitably followed by more attention to the control and scrutiny of independent bodies like the Office of the Auditor General, the different regulatory agencies, and the ombudsmen in different fields (Christensen and Lægreid 2006c). 52% of civil servants see this consideration as important, putting it in an intermediate position. The other new measure is consideration of societal consequences, results and effects, which scores as high as 81%. One main interpretation of this variable is that it shows some post-NPM features, where more holistic and societal considerations have regained importance. Another interpretation, which could be connected to the first one, might be that this measure ties in with the increased focus on outcomes, rather than just output, which is seen by some as an elaboration of NPM, but by others as a typical post-NPM measure (Christensen, Lie and Lægeid 2007).

Role identification. Another way to analyze cultural changes is to delve into the question of professional or occupational roles. Table 2 shows what parallels civil servants draw between their own position and role and various more general professional and occupational roles. The role seen as most similar is the broker and mediator role, and this role also scores higher in 2006 than 1996. Such a role may be interpreted as a reflection of heterogeneity in the civil service but is probably also related to the increasing

coordinative efforts that are going on inspired by post-NPM reforms. It is now back on the level where it was in 1986, before the NPM movement started in Norway. The role seen as second most similar is that of researcher, and this perception has remained stable over the last decade. It probably primarily reflects the increasing importance of the rational calculative or analytical features of the civil service, connected to «metatasks» like preparation decisions and drafting of laws and rules, planning, policy development, evaluation, etc. In a long-term perspective there has been an increase in this role identification, partly due to the increase in the civil service over the past 20

² There is a significant positive correlation between having being in a position of leadership and a renewal orientation (.13) and efficiency orientation (.19) (Pearson's R)

years of social scientists in general and political scientists especially.³ It also may reflect the increased focus on evidence-based policy making.

Professional role	1976	1986	1996	2006	Change
					1996–2006
Broker/mediator	53	68	61	66	+5
Researcher	39	40	49	50	+1
Business manager	35	38	39	34	-5
Judge	37	33	35	25	-10
(N average)	(776)	1176	(1355)	(1593)	

Table 2. Similarity between own position and different professional roles. 1976, 1986, 1996 and 2006. Percentage

The role of business manager scores significantly lower than that of negotiator and researcher and also scores somewhat lower in 2006 than in 1996; it is now on the same level as 30 years ago. The main picture is a surprisingly stable level of identification with the role of business manager, in spite of the NPM movement. It thus indicates the robustness of administrative culture and the problem of introducing reform ideas and programs into such a culture. Among people in leadership positions the identification with the role of business manager is strong, however.⁴ If anything the 2006 scores indicate an overall weakening of NPM features related to private-sector management.

The role of judge is ranked as the occupational role with the lowest identification among civil servants. It is also the role that has decreased the most over the last decade. That is somewhat surprising, since Norway's adaptation to EU is said to imply an increasing emphasis on judicial processes in the civil service (Olsen 2007). It is probably connected to the long-term reduction in the number of Norwegian civil servants trained in law.⁵ Overall, the results in Table 2 seem to confirm the picture of stability and robustness in the administrative culture, in spite of the increasing NPM rhetoric in administrative reform programs. What we see is slightly more post-NPM features.

Rules and discretion. The last cultural variable shown is the question of whether the daily work of civil servants is governed by unambiguous rules and established practice or whether discretionary behavior is more typical. One of the main aims of the NPM movement was to change the administrative culture from a rule-based bureaucratic mode towards a more performance- and result-oriented mode with greater discretion for managers and civil servants in general (Christensen and Lægreid 2001b). With the

³ The percentage of social scientists in Norwegian ministries increased from 4% in 1976, to 13% in 1986, 18% in 1996 and 24% in 2006.

⁴ 79% of civil servants in leadership positions report identification with the role of business manager. The corresponding percentage for non-leaders is 22.

⁵ The percentage of lawyers in Norwegian ministries decreased from 38% in 1976, to 27% in 1986, and 22% in 1996 and 2006.

post-NPM reforms, one expectation might be that increased central control and coordination would engender the reintroduction of stricter rules and less managerial freedom, in contrast to the managerial discretion orientation of NPM.

Table 3. Rules/established practice or discretion in the task enactment of civil servants. 1976, 1986, 1996 and 2006. Percentage

Rules/established practice or discretion	1976	1986	1996	2006	Change
					1996–2006
Very unambiguous rules	6	7	8	9	+1
Unambiguous rules	28	24	28	31	+3
Both/and	33	34	34	31	-3
Large degree of discretion/leeway	24	20	22	20	-2
Very large degree of discretion/leeway	9	14	8	9	+1
(N average)	(776)	(1176)	(1464)	(1854)	

Table 3 shows primarily a great deal of stability in this respect. First, there is no significant increase in managerial discretion and leeway nor a reduction in rule-based administration from the 1970s and 1980s to the 1990s, in spite of the NPM movement and its focus on cultural change of this kind. More autonomy seems to be followed by more rules and regulation, and deregulation and re-regulation seem to go in tandem (Christensen and Lægreid 2006c). And leaders are not less rule-oriented than non-leaders. Second, there is no significant change from 1996 to 2006 in the balance between rule-orientation and managerial autonomy, indicating that there has been no major shift in a post-NPM direction, mainly because the NPM movement had such a weak general impact on rule-orientation in the first place in the mid-1990s. The general picture is that civil servants can be divided into three relatively stable groups of fairly equal size: 1/3 rule-oriented, 1/3 having managerial autonomy, and 1/3 in the middle. In a long-term perspective there is a slight trend towards increased rule orientation, in contrast to what would be expected from the NPM movement.

Summing up, we have revealed a rather stable and robust administrative culture. The change in administrative culture is much smaller than one would have expected given that administrative reform programs have become more and more NPM-oriented over the past 10 years. Neither is there a clear change towards a post-NPM culture in 2006. We do not see an NPM-oriented culture replacing the old traditional administrative culture. Rather, the NPM features have supplemented the established culture and we see a mixture of old and new cultural features.

NPM and post-NPM reform tools in the civil service

We now turn to the administrative reform elements. First, we describe the scope and importance of the different reform tools and how the profile may have changed over the last 10 years. Second, we analyze the relationship between the reform tools. We identify four families of reform tools and examine to what degree they are alternative or supplementary tools. Third, we analyze and try to explain the variation in the importance of different tools using structural, demographic, and cultural explanatory factors.

Reform elements during the last decade

Table 4 shows the experience civil servants in Norwegian ministries have had with different elements of New Public Management reforms. The reform elements can be divided into a small number of different groups: elements connected to Management by Objectives and Results (MBOR); organizational elements of structural devolution, including internal and external decentralization; culturally oriented elements; and market-oriented tools.

Type of reform element	1996	2006	Change
Performance steering	45	37	-8
Goal definition and operationalization		36	-8
Performance reporting and evaluation		33	-10
Yearly operational planning	40	34	-6
Steering system for subordinate agencies	36	41	+5
Development dialogue, leadership training and competence development	35	34	-1
Quality management system	31	30	-1
Delegation of tasks and responsibility to the regional and local level	28	24	-4
Increased flexibility and autonomy in budgeting	26	18	-8
Change in form of affiliation to subordinate institutions	26	30	+4
Rule simplification and deregulation	21	23	+2
Increased flexibility and autonomy in questions of wages and personnel	16	15	-1
Increased user participation	12	16	+4
Contract systems	7	9	+2
Transferring tasks to private companies and non-profit organizations	5	6	+1
Internal markets and internal pricing	3	6	+3
(N average)	(1426)	(1635)	

Table 4. Attribution of strong or very strong importance or relevance to various reform elements by civil servants in Norwegian ministries in 1996 and 2006. Percent

The results from 1996 show that Norway was a reluctant reformer in two ways. First, none of the reform elements score higher than 45 per cent on having strong importance and relevance, meaning that some main Weberian elements still seemed to be strong. Second, if we compare the different groups of reform elements, the MBOR group scored highest. That tells us that the less radical elements seem to be strongest. MBOR was made mandatory for all government organizations in 1990 and has been mostly welcomed by the administrative leadership. It has not met with much cultural resistance among the ordinary civil servants, even though it has been criticized for being too bureaucratic (Christensen and Lægreid 1998a).

Leadership and competence development and development dialogue, as a cultural feature, also score relatively high, but this cannot be said of another cultural element, user participation, perhaps because this is on a high hierarchical level in the administra-

tive system. The group of elements connected to structural devolution score on average much lower than the MBOR group, reflecting very much a reluctance to take on board radical elements of NPM before 1996. It is also internally differentiated, whereby one difference in particular is interesting, namely that transferring tasks to a lower level is seen as muchmore acceptable than transferring them to the private sector. The reluctant reformer profile is rounded off by a low score (the lowest score, in fact) for the most radical reform elements – contracts and internal markets/pricing.

When we compare the profile in 2006 with the one in 1996, it is obvious that the Norwegian ministries have not gone further down the NPM path over the past decade. This may seem rather surprising given that the government in power from 2001 to 2005 had a pretty radical neo-liberal reform program. Table 4, however, shows stability in the relationship between the importance and relevance of the different groups of reform elements. But there are also some evident changes, primarily the attribution of a decreasing degree of importance to various MBOR elements. The explanation for this could be twofold: MBOR started out in the early 1990s as a detailed and technical system that demanded a lot of resources, but since then has gradually come to be used in a more general and flexible way (Lægreid, Roness and Rubecksen 2006a) and may have been blended with new reform elements to become a more integrated part of the daily work. This may have modified the importance of specific MBOR features as experienced by the civil servants, something that we will discuss below. We also see a decrease in the importance attributed to flexibility and autonomy in budgeting, which can be seen as a post-NPM trend implying increased centralization in the allocation of financial resources.

There are some reform elements that have increased in importance during the last decade, but not much. Steering systems for subordinate agencies, which are an MBOR tool for regulating the relationship between ministries and agencies, are, for instance, seen as somewhat more important in 2006. Another is change in the organizational form of subordinate institutions, meaning primarily increased autonomy for state-owned companies and some regulatory agencies. A third is increased user participation, but the relevance of this reform element is still rather weak.

During the last decade some new reform elements have emerged, which we could see as new instruments for the leadership, but also as new fads and fashions (Lægreid, Roness and Rubecksen 2006b). Some of these elements are typically connected to post-NPM reforms, particularly the cultural ones, while others represent an intensification of NPM. Table 5 shows that reform elements connected to post-NPM generally score higher than reform elements that are outgrowths of NPM reform elements. But there is differentiation within the two groups. Typical culturally-oriented elements of post-NPM like knowledge-based management and ethical guidelines score the highest, and a structural element like team-based management, meaning a more varied set of tasks and cases for civil servants, is also becoming increasingly important in the ministries. But other cultural elements like value-based management and service charters score lower.⁶

⁶ Service Charter was introduced as a mandatory tool for governmental organizations from 2001, but it has obviously not been implemented to a great extent in the ministries. In addition to the 11% who report that this tool has great importance in their own field of work, 21% say it has some importance, 21% report little importance, and 48% say that Service Charter is of very little importance and is either not used or not relevant.

Among the NPM elements, the old principle of «single-purpose organizations» and increased differentiation seems to be rather important, and it is an element that has been discussed quite a lot, particularly whether ownership and regulatory functions should be in the same ministry. But balanced scorecard and benchmarking, other refinements of MBOR, score relatively low.

Table 5. New reform measures as seen by civil servants in ministries in 2006, and their overall ranking among 26 reform elements. Percent

New reform elements	Percentage	Overall ranking in 2006
Knowledge-based management	32	7
Ethical guidelines	32	7
More unambiguous distinction between roles, horizontal differentiation, purchaser/provider systems	22	13
Team-based management	22	13
Balanced scorecard	16	15
Increased autonomy of regulatory agencies	16	15
Value-based management	15	18
Benchmarking	12	20
Service charters	11	21

If we compare the significance of the reform elements added during the last decade, it seems that only the two cultural post-NPM elements of knowledge-based management and ethical guidelines are attributed a similar degree of importance as MBOR elements and also the cultural component of leadership and competence development/development dialogue.

Summing up, there is a lot of stability in the relevance attributed to the same reform elements between 1996 and 2006. The Norwegian ministries are not moving more in the direction of stronger NPM features, but instead are slowly adopting some of the cultural elements of the post-NPM reforms. This also shows another main feature of Norway as a reluctant NPM reformer – namely, that the Norwegian ministries have slowly changed their path without ever reaching the extremes of NPM.

Families of reform

On average, the respondents report that five of the 26 listed reform tools are of great or very great importance in their own field of work. 25 percent are not exposed to a great extent to any reform, 24 percent report one to two reforms, 31 percent report three to nine reforms, and 16 percent think that ten reform initiatives or more are very

important in their own field of work. Thus there is a great variety in the extent to which civil servants in the ministries are exposed to administrative reform elements.

A factor analysis reveals that the reform tools can be grouped into four clusters or families of tools (Table 6). The first category consists of steering systems for subordinate agencies, including letter of allocation; increased flexibility in budget matters; formulation and concretization of goals and objectives; evaluation, performance measurement, and new control and reporting systems; performance steering; quality assessment and control systems; and yearly activity and operational planning. All these tools can be labeled performancemanagement systems or *Management-by-objectives-and-resulst* (MBOR), This is the main component in the Norwegian way of adopting NPM features and it has gradually been developed since 1990. For the rest of the analysis we use an additive index for the use of MBOR tools, ranging from 0 to 4.⁷ 43 percent report that they do not see any of the seven listed performance management tools as having great importance in their daily work, 22 percent see one or two tools as being of great importance, and 35 percent report three or more tools.

⁷ The index is constructed by counting occurrences of respondents reporting that they use the 7 tools included in category 1 in the factor analyses, all with a factor score of . 51 or higher. There are relatively high inter-correlations between the tools in this category, ranging from .42 to .84 (Pearson R).

		Com	ponent	
	MBOR	Cultural managerial tools	Structural Devolution	Market tools
Change in form of affiliation	.31	.00	.61	19.
Delegation of tasks to lower levels	.21	.03	.76	.08
Privatization	.09	.11	.66	.32
Public-private partnerships	.12	.17	.65	.27
User participation	.14	.36	.62	.19
Deregulation, rule simplification	.12	.34	.67	.00
Pay and personnel flexibility/autonomy	.15	.44	.40	.17
Steering systems for subordinate agencies	.58	.04	.46	.15
Development dialogue, leadership training	.40	.58	.18	.04
Budgeting flexibility/autonomy	.51	.22	.22	.36
Goal formulation and operationalization	.79	.29	.16	.15
Performance reporting, evaluation	.82	.26	.18	.18
Performance steering	.82	.31	.18	.16
Quality management systems	.66	.34	.21	.15
Internal markets, internal pricing	.08	.17	.23	.77
Contract systems	.17	.20	.19	.74
Yearly operational planning	.58	.44	.16	.18
Balanced scorecard	.47	.41	.17	.38
Value-based management	.23	.71	.14	.26
Ethical guidelines	.29	.67	.15	.13
Service charter	.13	.57	.23	.33
Team-based management	.22	.72	.08	.20
Knowledge-based management	.21	. 78	.07	.09
Benchmarking	.26	.42	.12	.57
Purchaser/provider systems	.26	.18	.22	.68
More autonomous regulatory agencies	.31	.07	.45	.47

Table 6. Different families of reform tools. 2006. Factor analyses. Rotated Component Matrix. Principal component analyses. Varimax rotation with Kaiser Normalization. N=1874

The second category consists of mostly culturally-oriented management development tools, development dialogue, and competence development tools; value-based management; ethical guidelines; service declarations; team-based management; and knowledgebased management. We label this category *cultural managerial tools* and it consists of softer managerial tools focusing more on norms, ethical issues, and leadership. This family of tools represents post-NPM measures that are more occupied with ethical issues and soft normative values related to leadership than to the harder measures of efficiency and performance. For the rest of the analysis we also use an additive index for cultural managerial tools, ranging from 0 to 6.849 percent of the respondents report that they do not see any of the six managerial tools used as important in their own field of work, 30 percent see 1–2 tools as important, and 21 percent cite three or more tools.

The third category consists of change in form of affiliation for subordinate agencies; delegation of tasks and responsibility to the regional and local level; delegation of tasks to private companies or organizations in civil society; public–private-partnerships; increased user participation and user surveys; and deregulation. Structural devolution, privatization, and empowerment of users and consumers are central components in this family of tools. They all focus on change in the external formal structure of public-sector organizations and imply a transfer of responsibility and tasks away from central government. In addition to MBOR, such tools have been central features of the Norwegian way of adopting NPM, especially from the mid-1990s. We label this family of tools *structural devolution*. For the rest of this analysis we also use an additive index for these tools, ranging from 0 to 6.⁹ 50 percent of the respondents report that they do not see any of the six tools as very significant in their own field of work, 36 percent report two tools as being of great importance, and 13 percent report three or more tools.

The last category in the factor analysis contains four tools: internal markets and internal pricing; contract arrangements; benchmarking; and role purification between owner, purchaser and provider. These tools all have to do with marketization and we label them *market tools*. They were for a long time rather absent from the Norwegian version of NPM, especially in the central administration, but received more attraction under the Bondevik II government (2001–2005). For the rest of the analyses we apply an additive index for these tools ranging from 0 to 4.¹⁰ 73 percent do not see any of the four market tools as having great importance in their field of work, 24 report one or two tools, and only three percent three tools or more.

The biggest family of tools is the MBOR measures. 57 percent of the civil servants report that one or more of these tools is important in their own field of work. In contrast only 27 percent cite one or more market-related tool. The cultural-managerial and structural devolution tools are closer to the MBOR tools than to the market tools in importance. These four different families of administrative reform tools are more complementary than alternative or competing. The inter-correlations between the indexes of MBOR tools, cultural-managerial tools, structural devolution, and market tools are all positively significant, ranging from .36 to .56 (Pearson R). The main picture is that if employees are exposed to one family of tools they also tend to be exposed to the other tools.

In this section we have accounted for variations in scope, intensity, and over time in which different tools are seen as having great importance for civil servants in their own

⁸ This index is constructed by counting occurrences of respondents reporting that they use the six tools included in category 3, and with a factor score of .57 or higher. The inter-correlations between these tools are all significant on the .01 level and range from .38 to .70.

⁹ The index is constructing by counting the employees reporting that they use the six tools included in category 3, all with a factor score of .62 or higher. The inter-correlations between those tools range from .35 to .60 (Pearson R).

¹⁰ The index is constructing by counting the employees reporting that they use the four tools included in category 4, all with a factor score of .57 or higher. The inter-correlations between those tools range from .46 to .65 (Pearson R).¹⁰

fields of work. We have also revealed different families of tools with overlapping relations. In the next section we will examine variations among the civil servants in the total number of tools seen as important as well as in the importance of the four different families of tools.

Variation in reform measures.

This section focuses on how the scores on the different independent variables, i.e. our indicators of structural, cultural, and demographic features, correlate with the importance attributed to different reform tools. We first examine the bivariate relations between each set of independent and dependent variables.

Bivariate analyses

Structural features: Leaders tend to be more exposed to administrative reforms than non-leaders (Table 7), which is natural given that they have a special obligation to deal with reforms and administrative policy. For all four families of reform tools as well as for a number of tools reported as important in their own field of work leaders evaluate reforms as more positive than non-leaders do. But even civil servants who do not occupy leadership positions report that the various reforms tools affect their daily work to a great extent. For example, 66 percent of people in leadership positions report that at least one managerial tool is important compared to 47 percent among non-leaders. The corresponding percentages for market-related reforms are 40 and 24.

Table 7 also reveals that tasks have an impact on the scope and content of the reforms. The only exception is structural reforms. Civil servants with staff tasks such as personnel, organizational development, budgeting, controlling, accounting, and reporting say that various reform tools are more important in their daily work. When it comes to MBOR, managerial reforms, market reforms, and number of reforms there is a significant difference between people with staff tasks as a main work field and other civil servants. On the opposite side are civil servants working mainly on single cases or preparation of laws and regulations. They are significantly less exposed to the different administrative reforms. There is less difference for people working mainly on coordination issues, but they generally see managerial reforms as more important in their own field of work than other civil servants.

Demographic features. One interesting finding is that age seems to be generally more important than gender when it comes to administrative reforms. Generally, older civil servants attribute more significance to all families of reforms and report a greater number of reforms. This is related to tenure. Civil servants with long tenure see more reforms and especially MBOR and managerial reforms. The only significant effect of gender is that men report that market reforms are more important in their own field of work than women do. When it comes to education the profiles of jurists and social scientists are quite opposite. While the social scientists report high values for MBOR and managerial reforms, the opposite is the case for jurists. The jurists also score low on attributing importance to market reforms. The differences between economists and other professions are less marked, but they are less

exposed to cultural-managerial reform tools and structural reforms than non-economists.

When it comes to job experience in private firms, job offers from the private sector or plans to leave to join the private sector there is no strong or clear pattern. Somewhat surprisingly, job experience in private firms does not affect exposure to reform tools in any positive way. On the contrary, people with private firm experience and with plans to join the private sector report fewer reform tools in general and cite MBOR particularly infrequently. Plans to leave to join the private sector are also negatively correlated with managerial reforms. Civil servants with job offers from the private sector are, however, more exposed to market reform tools than people without such offers.

	MBOR	Cultural Managerial tools	Structural devolution	Market tools	Number of reforms
Structure:					
Leaders	.17**	.23**	.06*	.13**	.19**
Tasks:					
Coordination	.03	.07**	01	.05	.04
Law preparation/single cases	14**	10**	.00	14**	13**
Staff-related	.14**	.10**	.00	.09**	.12**
Demography:					
Gender	02	02	02	10**	04
Age	.09**	.14**	.06*	.06*	.12**
Education:					
Jurist	09**	06*	.01	11**	08**
Economist	.02	07**	06*	.04	03
Social scientist	. 08**	.08**	.03	.04	.09**
Tenure	.07*	.08**	.02	.01	.07*
Job experience from private firms	09**	03	03	.01	07*
Job offers from private sector	05	.02	.03	.08**	.00
Exit plans to private sector	05*	05*	03	03	06*
Culture:					
Renewal-orientation	.18**	.23**	.13**	.20**	.24**
Efficiency-orientation	.17**	.12**	.07**	.17**	.18**
Identification with business manager	.21**	.26**	.12**	.18**	.26**
Rule-oriented	.02	.04	03	05**	.00

Table 7. Bivariate correlations between independent and dependent variables. 2006. Pearson's R. N=1874

**: Significant at the .01 level; *: Significant at the .05 level (2-tailed).

Cultural features. There is a strong positive correlation between renewal-orientation and efficiency-orientation and reporting of all families of reform tools as well as the number

Leaders: 0) no, 1) yes; Coordination: 0) no, 1) yes; Law preparation/single cases: 0) no, 1) yes: Staff: 0) no, 1) yes: Gender: 0) man 1) woman; Age: 1) under 24, 1) 25–29, 2) 30–34, 3) 35–39, 4) 40–44, 5) 45–49, 6) 50–59, 7) 60–64, 8) 65 and older; Jurist: 0) no, 1 yes; Economist: 0) no, 1) yes; Social scientist: 0) no, 1) yes; Tenure: 0) less than 5 years; 1) 5 years or more; Job experience private sector: 0) no, 1) yes; Job offers private sector: 0) no, 1) yes; Exit plans private sector: 0) no, 1) yes; Renewal-oriented: 0) no, 1) yes; Efficiency oriented: 0) no, 1) yes; Identification with judge: 0) no, 1) yes; Identification with business manager: 0) no, 1) yes. Rule-oriented: 0) no; 1) yes

of tools. Civil servants who report that they pay great attention to renewal or to efficiency in their daily work score high on all kinds of reform tools. The same is the case for civil servants who report that there is a strong overlap between their own position and the role of business manager. If civil servants are embedded in a modernization culture with strong identification with renewal values, efficiency, and the role of business manager they also tend to report that the different families of reforms are very important in their own field of work. Rule-orientation seems to have less impact, but people scoring low on rule-orientation tend to be more exposed than others to market-orientation.

Multivariate analysis

We now turn to the question of the relative explanatory power of the different independent variables for the different reform tools. The multivariable analyses, summed up in Table 8, generally confirm the main pattern revealed in the bivariate analyses.¹¹

First, the independent variables explain a relatively modest part of the variation in the importance of different reform tools in general and most significantly in MBOR tools and managerial tools. When it comes to structural devolution we are only able to explain a very small part of the variation.

¹¹ Only variables with significant bivariate correlations are included in the analysis.

	MBOR	Cultural Managerial tools	Structural devolution	Market tools	Number of reforms
Structure:					
Leaders	.10**	.18**	.02	.06*	.13**
Tasks:					
Coordination	-	.03	-	-	-
Law preparation/single cases	11**	06	-	08**	10**
Staff-oriented	.10**	.08**	-	.07**	.08**
Demography:					
Gender	-	-	-	06*	-
Age	.04	.09**	.01	.01	.05
Education:					
Jurist	.06	.04	-	04	.06
Economist	-	10**	07**	-	-
Social scientist	.07*	.06	-	-	.06*
Tenure	.00	04	-	-	01
Job experience from private firms	06*	-	-	-	-
Job offers from private sector	-	-	-	.08**	-
Exit plans to private sector	04	03		-	05
Culture:					
Renewal-orientation	.09**	.15**	.14**	.13**	.15**
Efficiency-orientation	.16**	.08**	.07**	.10**	.14**
Identification with business manager	.13**	.11**	.09**	.09**	.15**
Rule-oriented	-	-	-	04	-
Multiple R	.38	40	.22	.33	.42
R2	.15	16	.05	.11	.18
Adjusted R2	.14	15	.04	.10	.17
F Statistics	16,186	21,409	12,414	12,682	18,829
Significance of F	.000	000	.000	.000	.000

Table 8. Summary of regression equations by organizational, demographic and cultural features affecting administrative reforms. Standardized Beta coefficients. Linear regression. N=1848

Second, the most important explanatory variables are the cultural features. This is the case for all families of reform tools as well as the number of tools. The most important cultural features are renewal-orientation, efficiency-orientation, and identification with the role of business manager. Being in a setting in which efficiency is a main value, in which civil servants feel a strong affiliation with the role of business manager, and in which the staff are very keen on renewal and modernization tends to enhance the importance of the various reform tools. This is in line with the compatibility hypothesis, which stresses that reform tools have to pass a compatibility test before they are adopted. This is obviously easiest in an administrative culture dominated by strong efficiency- and renewal-orientation and with role identifications overlapping with the role of business manager, which fits in well with the importance accorded to efficiency by the NPM reform movement.

Third, there is also an overall strong effect of leadership, showing that leaders follow up on their formal obligations. Except for structural devolution, civil servants in leadership positions generally have stronger exposure to administrative reform tools than people in non-leadership positions. Thus, it is not only culture that matters; leadership makes a difference as well. Especially when it comes to cultural-managerial reform tools, being in a leadership position seems to mean more than cultural features. This is not surprising, and it confirms a well documented research finding that strong leadership involvement is an important condition for successful administrative reform processes (Naschold 1996, Rouban 1995). The main agents for introducing the NPM reforms into the public administration are supposed to be administrative leaders – entrepreneurs who have formal responsibility for change processes delegated by political executives.

Fourth, tasks make a difference. Working mainly with staff-related tasks tends to enhance the importance of different reform tools, while people dealing with single cases or preparation of laws and regulations as a main task tend to have a more distant relationship to reform initiatives. Thus, the importance of tasks has to be taken into consideration if one wants to understand how administrative reforms are adopted in government organizations (Pollitt et al. 2004). It seems that administrative reforms are primarily a staff-related function, while for people working with more operational issues such as single cases these reforms are more distant from their daily work and they are also more skeptical towards them.

Fifth, there are also variations according to demographic features, but these are weaker than cultural and structural features. The effects of several of the demographic variables are reduced when one controls for the other variables. This is especially the case for being a judge, for tenure, and for plans to join the private sector, which have no significant effects after the multivariate analyses. Moreover, age is reduced to having a significant effect on only one dependent variable. Managerial reform tools are more important for older employees than for younger ones. Social scientists and economists have somewhat different profiles. While social scientists tend to score high on MBOR reforms and also on the number of reform tools reported, economists score low on managerial reforms and also on the family of structural reforms. While job experience in private firms tends to reduce the importance of MBOR reforms, job offers from the private sector tend to increase the use of market-oriented reforms.

Summing up our findings relative to our expectations, we see that they are mainly supported. The importance of modern administrative reform tools in Norwegian ministries is especially high in renewal-oriented administrative cultures scoring high on efficiency values and identification with the role of business manager, among people in leadership positions, and with those involved in staff-related tasks. There is no significantly different pattern for the different families of reform tools. The variation in the adaptation of newer post-NPM tools such as cultural managerial tools is to a great extent parallel to that in the original NPM tools related to MBOR features.

The main impression, then, is that there is no one-factor explanation for the variation in the importance of different families of administrative tools. Cultural features, such as efficiency orientation and identification with the role of business manager, make a significant difference, but structural features, such as having a leadership position and task structure also have explanatory power.

Conclusion

In this paper we have first shown that the use of different administrative reform tools is widespread within government ministries in Norway. On average employees report that five different reform measures are important in their own field of work. This can be seen as a relatively high number. No tool has, however, become dominant. None of the 26 different reform tools are seen as having strong importance or relevance for a majority of the civil servants, and one-quarter report that none of the reform elements are very important in their own field of work. This indicates that civil servants in Norwegian ministries are pretty reluctant to adopt such reforms. There are, however, significant variations in the importance accorded the different reform elements. Reform measures connected to MBOR generally have high scores while market-related reforms score low.

Second, we have revealed that there are four different families of reform measures: performance-management reforms, cultural-managerial reforms, structural reforms, and market-related reforms. These families of reforms are, however, more supplemental and complementary reforms than alternative and competing reforms. The civil servants' response to the repertoire of reform elements can be characterized as reluctant, differentiated, and clustered.

Third, we have revealed a strong robustness in administrative culture and in administrative reforms. From 1996 to 2006 there was no strong increase in the espousal of renewal and efficiency values; identification with the role of business leader did not become stronger; and there was no general decline in rule-orientation. The general picture is civil servants with multiple identities who have to balance different loyalties and viewpoints. Thus, the administrative culture seems to be resistant to reform ideas enhanced by the NPM movement. The NPM movement does not represent a decisive move away from a rule-based approach. In addition the administrative reforms show a robust pattern from 1996 to 2006. There was no move towards a more comprehensive performance–measurement system, stronger market-orientation or more structural devolution, as seen by the ministerial executives.

Fourth, that said, some reform measures not included in the 1996 study, such as knowledge-based management and ethical guidelines, figure rather strongly in 2006. The same is to some extent the case for introducing a clearer distinction between roles, such as between owner, purchaser, and provider, and also the use of team-based leadership. This means that the repertoire of reform tools has been expanded. Some new tools more connected to post NPM-reform ideas such as ethical guidelines, knowledge-based management, and team-based management have been added to the first generation of reforms, which were more related to performance–management and structural devolution. Privatization and marketization initiatives have, however, not found their way into the daily work of ministerial executives to any strong degree.

The main picture is increased complexity. New reform tools have been added to existing measures and the ministries are increasingly becoming multistandard organizations (Røvik 1998). What we see is more supplementary reforms than a process in which post-NPM reforms are replacing NPM reforms. New measures have been added without a substantial reduction in the old ones. We do not see a general trend towards deregulated, and entrepreneurial government, as suggested in the contemporary reform movement, but rather the emergence of reshaped, sometimes new reform tools often appearing in hybrid forms (Lægreid, Roness and Rubecksen 2007). Traditional Weberian administrative features, post-Weberian reform tools, NPM features, and post-NPM measures are blended in a complex combination. By combining loyalty to reforms with the transformation of them, civil servants can live with the dilemma of simultaneously being the targets of reforms and cooperative participants in reform efforts. We face a combination of robustness and amenability to administrative policy reforms.

Fifth, there is also a significant variation in the importance of different administrative reform tools, but less so for structural reforms than for other tools. Structural devolution seems to be a general trend adapted to the same extent for civil servants with different demographic profiles and in different structural settings and administrative cultures. Use of other tools depends to a larger extent on contextual and structural features, such as administrative culture, leadership position, and main tasks. There is a complex interplay between the different factors. It is civil servants embedded in an efficiency and business management culture, whose main task is staff functions and who are in leadership positions, who give the reforms the highest significance ratings. The pattern of reactions illustrates that the administrative apparatus is not uniform and homogeneous when it comes to adopting administrative reforms. There is no general or common administrative doctrine or management ideal that is applied to the whole of the central government administration.

In the Norwegian reform trajectory the more radical «marketization» or «minimization» strategy is a weak element and it can be better characterized as a reluctant «modernizer» (c.f. Pollitt and Bouckaert 2004). The reform process within the civil service has been more one of addition than «demolition» and obviously some NPM elements are preferred over others and there is also more limited use of a number of tools. When the different recipes for reform are imported into the Norwegian context they have to pass a compatibility test: some are rejected, others are translated, and it is not only NPM measures that are on the agenda (Røvik 2002). In addition, the extent to which different parts of the civil service are receptive towards reform elements depends on cultural features, main tasks and whether those concerned are leaders or not.

References

Boston, J., J. Martin, J. Pallot and P. Walsh (1996) *Public Management: The New Zealand Model.* Auckland: Oxford University Press.

Boyne, G.A., C. Farrell, J. Law, M. Powell and R.M. Walker (2003) *Evaluating Public Management Reforms*. Buckingham: Open University Press.

- Brower, R.S. and M.Y. Abolafia (1997). «Bureaucratic politics: The view form below», *Journal of Public Administration Research and Theory*, 7 (2): 305–332.
- Brunsson, N. and J.P. Olsen (1993) The Reforming Organization. London: Routledge.
- Campbell, C. and J. Halligan (1992) Political Leadership in an Age of Constraint: The Experience of Australia. Pittsburgh: University of Pittsburgh Press.
- Christensen, T. and P. Lægreid (1998a) Den moderne forvaltning (The Modern Public Administration). Oslo: TANO Aschehoug.
- Christensen, T. and P. Lægreid (1998b) «Administrative reform policy: the case of Norway», *International Review of Administrative Science*, 6: 457–475.
- Christensen, T. and P. Lægreid (1999) «New Public Management Design, Resistance or Transformation?», Public Productivity & Management Review, 23 (2): 169–193).
- Christensen, T. and P. Lægreid (2001a) «A Transformative Perspective on Administrative Reforms». In T. Christensen and P. Lægreid (eds.): *New Public Management. The Transformation of Ideas and Practice.* Aldershot: Ashgate.
- Christensen, T. and P. Lægreid (2001b) «New Public Management Undermining Political Control?». In T. Christensen and P. Lægreid (eds.): New Public Management. The Transformation of Ideas and Practice. Aldershot: Ashgate.
- Christensen, T. and P. Lægreid (2002) Reform og lederskap (Reform and Leadership). Oslo: Universitetsforlaget.
- Christensen, T. and P. Lægreid (2006a) «The whole-of-government approach regulation, performance, and public-sector reform». Paper presented at «A Performing Public Sector: The Second Transatlantic Dialogue – Workshop 2 – Performance of Regulation and Regulation of Performance», Leuven, June 1–3 2006.
- Christensen, T. and P. Lægreid (2006b) «Modern Regulatory Agencies Professional and Judicial Objectivity or Increased Complexity in Decision-Making?». Paper presented at the 22nd EGOS Colloquium in Bergen, sub-theme 26 «Public Sector Agencies – The Problem of Coping with Autonomy, Steering and Regulation», Bergen, July 6–8 2006.
- Christensen, T. and P. Lægreid (2006c) «Agencification and Regulatory Reforms». In T. Christensen and P. Lægreid (eds.): *Autonomy and Regulation. Coping with Agencies in the Modern State.* Cheltenham: Edward Elgar.
- Christensen, T. and P. Lægreid (eds.) (2007) Transcending New Public Management. The Transformation of Public Sector Reforms. Aldershot: Ashgate.
- Christensen, T. and M. Painter (2004) «The Politics of SARS Rational Responses or Ambiguity, Symbols and Chaos?», *Policy and Society* 23(2):18–48.
- Christensen, T. and B.G. Peters (1999) Structure, Culture and Governance: A Comparative Analysis of Norway and the United States. Lanham, Maryland: Rowman & Littlefield.
- Christensen, T., A.-L. Fimreite and P. Lægreid (2006) «Reform of the employment and welfare administrations – the challenges of coordinating diverse public organizations». Paper presented at the Study Group on Governance of Public Sector Organizations, EGPA Conference, Bocconi University, Milan, 6–9 Sep, 2006.
- Christensen, T., A. Lie and P. Lægreid (2007) «Still Fragmented or Reassertion of the Centre?». In T. Christensen and P. Lægreid (eds.): *Transcending New Public Management*. Aldershot: Ashgate.
- Czarniawska, B. and G. Sevón (1996) (eds.) Translating Organizational Change. Berlin: De Gruyter.
- Domberger, S. and P. Jensen (1997) «Contracting Out by the Public Sector: Theory, Evidence, Prospects», Oxford Review of Economic Policy, 13: 67–77.
- Domberger, S. and S. Rimmer (1994) «Competitive Tendering and Contracting in the Public Sector: A Survey», *International Journal of the Economics of Business*, 1 (3): 439–453.
- Egeberg, M. (2003) «How bureaucratic structure matters: An Organizational Perspective». In B.G. Peters and J. Pierre (eds.): *Handbook of Public Administration*. London: Sage.

- Gregory, R. (2001) «Transforming Governmental Culture: A Sceptical View of New Public Management». In T. Christensen and P. Lægreid (eds.): New Public Management. The Transformation of Ideas and Practice. Aldershot: Ashgate.
- Gregory, R. (2006) «Theoretical Faith and Practical Works: De-Autonomizing and Joining-Up in the New Zealand State Sector». I T. Christensen and P. Lægreid (eds.): *Autonomy and Regulation: Coping with* agencies in the modern state. London: Edward Elgar.
- Halligan, J. (2007) «Reform Design and Performance in Australia and New Zealand». In T.Christensen and P.Lægreid (eds.): *Transcending New Public Management*. Aldershot: Ashgate.
- Hammond, T. (2004) «Why is the intelligence community so difficult to redesign?». Paper presented at the SOG-conference, University of British Colombia, Vancouver, June 15–17, 2004.
- Hodge, G. (1999) Privatization. An International Review of Performance. Boulder: Westview.
- Hood, C. (1996) «Exploring Variations in Public Management Reform of the 1980s». In H.A.G.M. Bekke, J.L. Perry and T.A.J. Toonen (eds.): *Civil Service Systems*. Bloomington: Indiana University Press.
- Ingrahan, P.W., P.G. Joyce and A.K. Donahue (2003) Government Performance. Why Management Matters. Baltimore: The Johns Hopkins University Press.
- Kettl, D. (2004) System under Stress: Homeland Security and American Politics. Washington: CQ Press.
- Krasner, S. (1988) «Sovereignty: An Institutional Perspective», Comparative Political Studies, 21: 66–94.
- Light, P.C. (1998) The Tides of Reform. Making Government Work 1945–1995. New Haven: Yale University Press.
- Lægreid, P. and J.P. Olsen (1978) Byråkrati og beslutninger (Bureacuracy and decisions). Bergen: Universitetsforlaget.
- Lægreid, P., P.G. Roness and K. Rubecksen (2006a) «Performance management in practice The Norwegian way», *Financial Accountability and Management*, 22 (3): 251–270.
- Lægreid, P., P.G. Roness and K. Rubecksen (2006b) «Regulation inside government: Modern management tools in Norwegian state agencies». Paper presented at the Second Transatlantic Dialogue. Workshop 2 Performance of Regulation and Regulation of Performance». Leuven 1–3 June.
- Lægreid, P., P.G. Roness and K. Rubecksen (2007) «Controlling Regulatory Agencies», *Scandinavian Political Studies* (forthcoming).
- Meyer, J.W. and B. Rowan (1977) «Institutionalized Organizations: Formal Structure as Myth and Ceremony», *American Journal of Sociology*, 83 (September): 340–363.
- Naschold, F. (1996) New Frontiers in Public Sector Management. Berlin: de Gruyter.
- Olsen, J.P. (1992) «Analyzing Institutional Dynamics", Staatswissenschaften und Staats-praxis, 2: 247-271.
- Olsen, J.P. (2006) "May be it is Time to Rediscover Bureaucracy", *Journal of Public administrtion Research and Theory*, 16: 1–24.
- Olsen, J.P. (2007) Europe in Search of Political Order. Oxford: Oxford University Press.
- Olsen, J.P. and B.G. Peters (eds.) (1996) Lessons from Experience. Oslo: Scandinavian University Press.
- Pierson, P. (2004) Politics in Time: History, Institutions and Social Analysis. Princeton: Princeton University Press.
- Pollitt, C. (2007) «Convergence or divergence: What has been happening in Europe?». In C. Pollitt, S. van Thiel and V. Homburg (eds.): New Public Management in Europe. Adaptation and Alternatives. Basingstoke: Palgrave Macmillan.
- Pollitt, C. and G. Bouckaert (2004) Public Management Reform: A Comparative Analysis. Oxford: Oxford University Press. 2.edition.
- Pollitt et. al. (2004) Agencies: How Governments Do Things through Semi-autonomous Organizations. Basingstoke: Palgrave Macmillan.
- Pollitt, C., S. van Theil and V. Homburg (2007) New Public Management in Europe. Adaptation and Alternatives. Basingstoke: Palgrave Macmillan.

- Richards, D. and M. Smith (2006) «The Tension of Political Control and Administrative Autonomy: from NPM to a Reconstituted Westminster Model». In T. Christensen and P. Lægreid (eds.): *Autonomy and Regulation. Coping with agencies in the modern state.* Cheltenham: Edward Elgar.
- Rouban, L. (1995) «The civil service culture and administrative reform». In B.G. Peters and D.J. Savoie (eds.): *Governance in a changing environment*. Montreal: McGill-Queen's University Press.
- Røvik, K.A. (1998) Moderne organisasjoner (Modern organizatioins). Bergen: Fagbokforlaget.
- Røvik, K.A. (2002) «The Secrets of the Winners: Management Ideas That Flow». In K. Sahlin-Andersson and L. Engwall (eds.): *The Expansion of Management Knowledge*,113–144. Stanford, California: Stanford University Press.
- Sahlin-Andersson, K. (2001) «National, International and Transnational Construction of New Public Management». In T. Christensen and P. Lægreid (eds.): New Public Management. The transformation of ideas and practice. Aldershot: Ashgate.
- Self, P. (2000) Rolling Back the State. Economic Dogma & Political Choice. New York: St. Martin's Press.
- Selznick, P. (1957) Leadership in Administration. New York: Harper & Row.
- Shergold, P. (2004) «Regeneration: New Structures, New Leaders, New Traditions», Australian Journal of Public Administration, 54 (2): 3–6.
- Stephens, R. (1996) «Social Services». In B. Silverstone, A. Bollard and R. Lattimore (eds.): A Study of Economic Reform: The Case of New Zealand. Elsvier.
- Streeck, W. and K. Theelen (2005) Beyong Continuity: Institutional Change in Advances Political Economies. Oxford: Oxford University Press.
- United Nations (2005) Unlocking the Human Potential for Public Sector Performance. New York: World Public Sector Report.
- Wright, V. (1994) «Reshaping the state. The implications for public administration», West European Politics, 17: 102–137.

WORKING PAPERS ROKKANSENTERET (ISSN 1503-0946)

The publications can be ordered from Rokkansenteret, phone: +47 55 58 97 10, e-mail: <u>post@rokkan.uib.no</u>, http://www.rokkansenteret.uib.no

2007

- **1-2007** *Kari Ludvigsen og Svanaug Fjær:* «Varig bolig framfor hospits». Februar 2007.
- **2-2007** *Kari Ludvigsen og Reidun Faye*: «Botilbud for ressurskrevende brukere innen lokal helsetjeneste i omstilling. Evaluering av prøveprosjektet Bufellesskapet Vik i Jondal kommune». Mai 2007.
- **3-2007** *Tom Christensen and Per Lægreid*: «NPM and Beyond Leadership, Culture, and Demography». June 2007.

2006

- **1-2006** *Martin Byrkjeland:* Høgare utdanningstilbod på Vestlandet og i Agder-fylka. Mai 2006.
- 2-2006 Svanaug Fjær: «Dagsverket lavterskel arbeidstilbud for rusavhengige. Evalueringsrapport». Juni 2006.
- **3-2006** *Birgit Skjelbred-Knudsen Valde*: «Norsk anti-korrupsjonspolitikk svar på behov eller utløst av en internasjonal trend». Juni 2006.
- **4-2006** *Håkon Høst*: «Kunnskapsstatus vedrørende rekruttering og utdanning til pleie- og omsorgstjenestene i nordiske land». Juni 2006.
- **5-2006** *Ingrid Helgøy, Sturla Herfindal og Torgeir Sveri*: «Undersøkelse av hovedfags- og masterstudenters gjennomføring og vurdering av studiesituasjonen». Juni 2006.
- **6-2006** *Tom Christensen and Per Lægreid:* «The whole-of-government approach regulation, performance, and public-sector reform». August 2006.
- **7-2006** *Martin Byrkjeland:* «Kortare arbeidstid Eit oversyn over diskusjonen om arbeidstidsforkortingar i Noreg 1880–2006». August 2006.
- **8-2006** *Even Nilssen:* «The EU Fight Against Poverty and Social Exclusion. Activation, Targeting and the Sustainability of the Welfare State». November 2006.
- 9-2006 Merethe Mæland Bertelsen: «Omorganisering av konkurransetilsynet». November 2006.
- **10-2006** *Rune Ervik*: «European Pension Policy Initiatives and National Reforms: Between Financial Sustainability and Adequacy». December 2006.
- 11-2006 Kaia Christina I. Grahm-Haga: «Utvikling av forvaltningsrevisjon i Norge». Desember 2006.
- **12-2006** *Tom Christensen and Per Lægreid*: «Modern Regulatory Agencies Professional and Judicial Objectivity or Increased Complexity in Decision-Making?». December 2006.
- **13-2006** *Per Lægreid, Paul G. Roness and Kristin Rubecksen:* «Modern Management Tools in Norwegian State Agencies: Regulation Inside Government or Shopping Basket?». December 2006.
- **14-2006** *Tom Christensen, Anne Lise Fimreite and Per Lægreid:* «Reform of the Employment and Welfare Administrations the Challenges of Co-ordinating Diverse Public Organisations». December 2006.

2005

- **1-2005** *Ivar A. Lima og Agnete Vabø:* «Instituttstruktur og fakultetsorganisering ved HF-fakultetet, Universitetet i Bergen». Mai 2005.
- 2-2005 Dag Arne Christensen og Jacob Aars: «Modalen: Fra off-road til on-line på 25 år». Mai 2005.
- 3-2005 Nanna Kildal: «Fra arbeidsbegrepets historie: Aristoteles til Marx». Mai 2005.
- **4-2005** *Per Lægreid, Paul G. Roness and Kristin Rubecksen:* «Autonomy and Control in the Norwegian Civil Service: Does Agency Form Matter?». September 2005.
- **5-2005** *Per Lægreid, Paul G. Roness and Kristin Rubecksen:* «Regulating Regulatory Organizations: Controlling Norwegian Civil Service Organizations». September 2005.
- 6-2005 *Tom Christensen and Per Lægreid:* «Regulatory Reforms and Agencification». November 2005.
- **7-2005** *Anne Lise Fimreite and Per Lægreid:* «Specialization and Coordination: Implications for Integration and Autonomy in a Multi-Level System». November 2005.
- **8-2005** *Per Lægreid, Paul G. Roness and Kristin Rubecksen:* «Performance Management in Practice The Norwegian Way». November 2005.
- **9-2005** *Stig Helleren:* «Omstilling i Arbeidstilsynet: Tilsynsmeldingens konsekvenser for strategi og organisering». November 2005.
- **10-2005** *Per Lægreid, Runolfur Smari Steinthorsson and Baldur Thorhallsson:* «Europeanization of Nordic Central Governments: Towards a Transnational Regulatory State?». November 2005.
- **11-2005** *Kari Ludvigsen and Kari Tove Elvbakken:* «The Public, the Mother and the Child. Public Health Initiatives Promoting the Strong and Happy Child Focusing on Food and Mental Health». December 2005.
- **12-2005** *Rune Ervik and Ingrid Helgøy*: «Overcoming the Barrieres and Seizing the Opportunities for Active Ageing in Norway: Report from an Expert Panel Meeting». December 2005.

13-2005 *Ingrid Helgøy:* «Active Ageing and the Norwegian Health Care System». December 2005.

- **14-2005** *Martin Byrkjeland og Knut Grove:* «Perspektiv på bygdeutvikling». Desember 2005.
- **15-2005** *Haldor Byrkjeflot:* «The Rise of a Healthcare State? Recent Healthcare Reforms in Norway». December 2005.
- **16-2005** *Monica Skjøld Johansen:* «Penga eller livet? Lederutfordringer i det reformerte norske sykehusvesenet». Desember 2005.
- **17-2005** *Kirsti Malterud, Kari Tove Elvbakken og Per Solvang*: «Helsekameratene. Gruppe for flerfaglig forskning om helse og sykdom i kulturelt perspektiv, Universitetet i Bergen 1999–2005». Desember 2005.

2004

- **1-2004** *Dag Olaf Torjesen and Hallgeir Gammelsæter:* «Management Between Autonomy and Transparency in the Enterprise Hospital». January 2004.
- **2-2004** *Haldor Byrkjeflot and Simon Neby*: «The Decentralized Path Challenged? Nordic Health Care Reforms in Comparison». January 2004.
- **3-2004** *Tom Christensen and Per Lægreid:* «The Fragmented State the Challenges of Combining Efficiency, Institutional Norms and Democracy». March 2004.
- 4-2004 Morten Dyrdal: «Europeisering av tilsynsmyndigheter i Norge og Sverige». Mars 2004.
- **5-2004** *Karsten Vrangbæk and Katarina Østergren:* «The Introduction of Choice in Scandinavian Hospital Systems. Arguments and Policy Processes in the Danish and the Norwegian Case». March 2004.
- **6-2004** *Marit Tjomsland*: «Internationalization at Norwegian Universities and Colleges after the Quality Reform». April 2004. The Globalization Program.
- **7-2004** Hans-Tore Hansen, Anne Hege Trædal-Henden, Olaf Jürgens and Wolfgang Voges: «Poverty among Households with Children: A Comparative Study of Lone Parents and Couples with Children in Norway and Germany». April 2004.
- 8-2004 *Renate Storetvedt Lien og Arnhild Taksdal* «Integrering av kjønnsperspektiv i offentlig tjenesteproduksjon og planlegging». Mai 2004.
- **9-2004** Ingrid Helgøy og Synnøve Serigstad: «Tilsyn som styringsform i forholdet mellom staten og kommunene». Mai 2004.
- **10-2004** *Morten Dyrdal*: «Legemiddeltilsyn og europeisering». September 2004.
- **11-2004** *Bodil Ravneberg:* «Økonomiske insentiv i arbeidslinjen, virker det? Evaluering av forsøksordning med kvalifiseringsstønad i 'Prosjektet Amalie' i Åsane». Oktober 2004.
- **12-2004** *Per Lægreid and Synnøve Serigstad:* «Organizing for Homeland Security: The Case of Norway». November 2004.
- 13-2004 Ivar Bleiklie: «Institutional Conditions and the Responsibilities of Universities». November 2004.
- **14-2004** *Lise Hellebø*: «Food Safety at Stake the Establishment of Food Agencies». November 2004.
- **15-2004** *Katarina Østergren:* «The Institutional Construction of Consumerism. A Study of Implementing Quality Indicators». November 2004.
- **16-2004** *Ingrid Helgøy and Anne Homme:* «Governance in Primary and Lower Secondary Education. Comparing Norway, Sweden and England». November 2004.
- **17-2004** *Tom Christensen, Per Lægreid and Inger Marie Stigen:* «Performance Management and Public Sector Reform: The Norwegian Hospial Reform». December 2004.
- **18-2004** *Tom Christensen and Per Lægreid:* «Regulatory Agencies The Challenges of Balancing Agency Autonomy and Political Control». December 2004.

19-2004 Dag Arne Christensen: «Velferdsstat, rettighetslovgivning og lokalt selvstyre». Desember 2004.

- **20-2004** *Kristin Rubecksen:* «Civil Service Organizations in Norway: Organizational Features and Tasks». December 2004.
- **21-2004** *Kjell Erik Lommerud, Odd Rune Straume and Lars Sørgard:* «National Versus International Mergers in Unionised Oligopoly». December 2004. The Globalization Program.
- **22-2004** *Birte Folgerø Johannessen:* «Ledelse og evidens i det psykiske helsevernet, konsekvenser for kunnskapsforståelse og organisering». Desember 2004.
- 23-2004 Jacob Aars og Svein Kvalvåg: «Politiske uttrykksformer i en bykontekst». Desember 2004.
- 24-2004 Ingrid Helgøy: «Active Ageing in the Labour Market. Country Report Norway». December 2004.
- **25-2004** *Torgeir Sveri*: «Strukturer og reformer. En kvalitativ analyse av reformen 'Enhetlig ledelse' sett i lys av sykehusets arbeidsorganisering». Desember 2004.
- **26-2004** *Stig Helleren:* «Arbeidstilsynets rollekonflikt: Vekslende tilsynsstrategier mellom kontroll og veiledning». Desember 2004.
- **27-2004** *Kjell Erik Lommerud, Frode Meland and Odd Rune Straume*: «Globalisation and Union Opposition to Technological Change». December 2004. The Globalization Program.

28-2004 *Frode Meland:* «A Union Bashing Model of Inflation Targeting». December 2004. The Globalization Program.

2003

- **1-2003** *Tom Christensen og Per Lægreid:* «Politisk styring og privatisering: holdninger i elitene og befolkningen». Mars 2003.
- **2-2003** *Ivar Bleiklie, Per Lægreid and Marjoleine H. Wik:* «Changing Government Control in Norway: High Civil Service, Universities and Prisons». March 2003.
- **3-2003** *Badi H. Baltagi, Espen Bratberg and Tor Helge Holmås:* «A Panel Data Study of Physicians' Labor Supply: The Case of Norway». March 2003. HEB.
- **4-2003** *Kjell Erik Lommerud, Frode Meland and Lars Sørgard*: «Unionised Oligopoly, Trade Liberalisation and Location Choice». March 2003. The Globalization Program.
- 5-2003 Lise Hellebø: «Nordic Alcohol Policy and Globalization as a Changing Force». April 2003.
- 6-2003 Kim Ove Hommen: «Tilsynsroller i samferdselssektoren». April 2003.
- **7-2003** *Tom Christensen and Per Lægreid:* «Trust in Government the Significance of Attitudes Towards Democracy, the Public Sector and Public Sector Reforms». April 2003.
- **8-2003** *Rune Ervik:* «Global Normative Standards and National Solutions for Pension Provision: The World Bank, ILO, Norway and South Africa in Comparative Perspective». April 2003. The Globalization Program.
- 9-2003 Nanna Kildal: «The Welfare State: Three Normative Tensions». Mai 2003.
- 10-2003 Simon Neby: «Politisk styring og institusjonell autonomi tre illustrasjoner». Mai 2003.
- **11-2003** *Nina Berven:* «Cross National Comparison and National Contexts: Is what we Compare Comparable?». July 2003. The Globalization Program.
- **12-2003** *Hilde Hatleskog Zeiner:* «Kontrollhensyn og kontrollpraksis. En studie av Food and Veterinary Office (FVO)». August 2003.
- 13-2003 Nanna Kildal: «Perspectives on Policy Transfer: The Case of the OECD». August 2003.
- **14-2003** *Erik Allardt:* «Two Lectures: Stein Rokkan and the Twentieth Century Social Science». «Den sociala rapporteringens tidstypiska förankring». September 2003.
- **15-2003** *Ilcheong Yi:* «The National Patterns of Unemployment Policies in Two Asian Countries: Malaysia and South Korea». September 2003. The Globalization Program.
- 16-2003 Dag Arne Christensen: «Active Ageing: Country Report Norway». November 2003.
- 17-2003 Kim Ove Hommen: «Tilsynspolitikk i Norge: Utflytting og autonomi». November 2003.

18-2003 *Dag Arne Christensen, Rune Ervik and Ingrid Helgøy:* «The Impact of Institutional Legacies on Active Ageing Policies: Norway and UK as Contrasting Cases». December 2003.

- **19-2003** Ole Frithjof Norheim og Benedicte Carlsen: «Legens doble rolle som advokat og portvakt i Fastlegeordningen. Evaluering av fastlegeordningen». Desember 2003. HEB.
- **20-2003** *Kurt R. Brekke og Odd Rune Straume:* «Pris- og avanseregulering i legemiddelmarkedet. En prinsipiell diskusjon og en vurdering av den norske modellen». Desember 2003. HEB.
- **21-2003** *Per Lægreid, Vidar W. Rolland, Paul G. Roness and John-Erik Ågotnes:* «The Structural Anatomy of the Norwegian State 1947–2003». December 2003.
- **22-2003** *Ivar Bleiklie, Haldor Byrkjeflot and Katarina Östergren:* «Taking Power from Knowledge. A Theoretical Framework for the Study of Two Public Sector Reforms». December 2003. ATM.
- **23-2003** *Per Lægreid, Ståle Opedal and Inger Marie Stigen:* «The Norwegian Hospital Reform Balancing Political Control and Enterprise Autonomy». December 2003. ATM.
- **24-2003** *Håkon Høst*: «Kompetansemåling eller voksenutdanning i pleie- og omsorgsfagene? Underveisrapport fra en studie av pleie- og omsorgsutdanningene». Desember 2003.
- **25-2003** *Kjell Erik Lommerud, Odd Rune Straume and Lars Sørgard:* «Downstream merger with upstream market power». The Globalization Program. December 2003.
- **26-2003** *Ingrid Drexel:* «Two Lectures: The Concept of Competence an Instrument of Social and Political Change». «Centrally Coordinated Decentralization No Problem? Lessons from the Italian Case». December 2003.

2002

- 1-2002 Håkon Høst: «Lærlingeordning eller skolebasert utdanning i pleie- og omsorgsfagene?». April 2002.
- **2-2002** Jan-Kåre Breivik, Hilde Haualand and Per Solvang: «Rome a Temporary Deaf City! Deaflympics 2001». June 2002.
- **3-2002** *Jan-Kåre Breivik, Hilde Haualand og Per Solvang:* «Roma en midlertidig døv by! Deaflympics 2001». Juni 2002.
- 4-2002 Christian Madsen: «Spiller det noen rolle? om hverdagen på nye og gamle sykehjem». Juni 2002.

5-2002 *Elin Aasmundrud Mathiesen*: «Fritt sykehusvalg. En teoretisk analyse av konkurranse i det norske sykehusmarkedet». Juni 2002. HEB.

6-2002 Tor Helge Holmås: «Keeping Nurses at Work: A Duration Analysis». June 2002. HEB.

- 7-2002 Ingvild Halland Ørnsrud: «Mål- og resultatstyring gjennom statlige budsjettreformer». Juli 2002.
- 8-2002 Torstein Haaland: «Tid, situasjonisme og institusjonell utakt i systemer». Juli 2002.
- **9-2002** *Kristin Strømsnes:* «Samspillet mellom frivillig organisering og demokrati: Teoretiske argument og empirisk dokumentasjon». August 2002.
- **10-2002** *Marjoleine Hooijkaas Wik:* «Mangfold eller konformitet? Likheter og forskjeller innenfor og mellom fem statlige tilknytningsformer». August 2002.
- 11-2002 Knut Helland:«Den opprinnelige symbiosen mellom fotball og presse». September 2002.
- **12-2002** *Nina Berven:* «National Politics and Global Ideas? Welfare, Work and Legitimacy in Norway and the United States». September 2002. The Globalization Program.
- **13-2002** *Johannes Hjellbrekke:* «Globalisering som utfordring til samfunnsvitskapane». September 2002. Globaliseringsprogrammet.
- **14-2002** *Atle Møen:* «Den globale produksjonen av symbol og kunnskap. Verdsflukt og verdsherredømme». September 2002. Globaliseringsprogrammet.
- **15-2002** *Tom Christensen and Per Lægreid:* «Complex Patterns of Interaction and Influence Among Political and Administrative Leaders». October 2002.
- **16-2002** *Ivar Bleiklie:* «Hierarchy and Specialization. On Institutional Integration of Higher Education Systems». Oktober 2002.
- **17-002** *Per Lægreid, Runolfur Smari Steinthorsson and Baldur Thorhallsson:* «Europeanization of Public Administration: Effects of the EU on the Central Administration in the Nordic States». November 2002.
- **18-2002** *Tom Christensen and Per Lægreid:* «Trust in Government the Relative Importance of Service Satisfaction, Political Factors and Demography». November 2002.
- **19-2002** *Marit Tjomsland:* «Arbeidsinnvandringssituasjonen i Norge etter 1975». November 2002. Globaliseringsprogrammet.
- **20-2002** *Augustín José Menéndez m.fl.:* «Taxing Europe. The Case for European Taxes in Federal Perspective». December 2002. The Globalization Program.
- **21-2002** *Fredrik Andersson and Kai A. Konrad*: «Globalization and Risky Human Capital Investment».December 2002. The Globalization Program.
- **22-2002** *Fredrik Andersson and Kai A. Konrad*: «Human Capital Investment and Globalization in Extortionary States». December 2002. The Globalization Program.
- **23-2002** *Anne Lise Fimreite, Yngve Flo og Jacob Aars:* «Generalistkommune og oppgavedifferensiering. Tre innlegg». Desember 2002.
- **24-2002** *Knut Grove*: «Frå privat initiativ til kommunalt monopol. Lysverk, sporvegar og renovasjon i Bergen og Oslo 1850–1935». Desember 2002.
- **25-2002** *Knut Grove*: «Mellom 'non-intervention' og 'samfundsvillie'. Statleg og kommunal regulering av økonomisk verksemd i Norge på 1800-talet». Desember 2002.
- **26-2002** *Dag Arne Christensen*: «Hovedtyper av valgordninger. Proporsjonalitet eller politisk styring?». Desember 2002.
- **27-2002** Jan Erik Askildsen, Badi H. Baltagi and Tor Helge Holmås: «Will Increased Wages Reduce Shortage of Nurses? A Panel Data Analysis f Nurses' Labour Supply». December 2002. HEB.
- **28-2002** *Sturla Gjesdal, Peder R. Ringdal, Kjell Haug and John Gunnar Mæland:* «Medical Predictors of Disability Pension in Long-Term Sickness Absence. December 2002. HEB.
- **29-2002** Dag Arne Christensen og Jacob Aars: «Teknologi og demokrati. Med norske kommuner på nett!». Desember 2002.
- **30-2002** *Jacob Aars:* «Byfolk og politikk. Gjennomgang av data fra en befolkningsundersøkelse i Bergen, Oslo og Tromsø». Desember 2002.
- **31-2002** Hjørdis Grove: «Kommunaliseringsprosessen i Århus 1850–1940». Desember 2002.